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BARSHAY SANDERS, PLLC 
100 Garden City Plaza, Suite 500 
Garden City, New York 11530 
Tel: (516) 203-7600 
Fax: (516) 706-5055 
Email: ConsumerRights@BarshaySanders.com 
Attorneys for Plaintiff 
Our File No.: 113808 

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
NORTHERN DISTRICT OF NEW YORK 

Karen Muldowney, individually and on behalf of all 
others similarly situated, 

Plaintiff, 

vs. 

Kozeny, McCubbin & Katz LLP and Trinity Financial 
Services, LLC 

Defendants. 

Docket No:  

CLASS ACTION COMPLAINT 

JURY TRIAL DEMANDED 

Karen Muldowney, individually and on behalf of all others similarly situated (hereinafter 

referred to as “Plaintiff”), by and through the undersigned counsel, complains, states and alleges 

against Kozeny, McCubbin & Katz LLP and Trinity Financial Services, LLC (hereinafter 

referred to collectively as “Defendants”), as follows: 

INTRODUCTION 

1. This action seeks to recover for violations of the Fair Debt Collection Practices

Act, 15 U.S.C. § 1692, et seq. (“FDCPA”). 

JURISDICTION AND VENUE 

2. This Court has federal subject matter jurisdiction pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1331

and 15 U.S.C. § 1692k(d). 

3. Venue is proper under 28 U.S.C. § 1391(b) because a substantial part of the

events or omissions giving rise to the claim occurred in this Judicial District. 

5:17-cv-1046 (GLS/DEP)
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4. At all relevant times, Defendants conducted business within the State of New 

York. 

PARTIES 

5. Plaintiff Karen Muldowney is an individual who is a citizen of the State of New 

York residing in Onondaga County, New York.  

6. Plaintiff is a “consumer” as defined by 15 U.S.C. § 1692a(3).    

7. On information and belief, Defendant Kozeny, McCubbin & Katz LLP, 

(“Kozeny”) is a New York Limited Liability Partnership with a principal place of business in 

Suffolk County, New York. 

8. On information and belief, Defendant Trinity Financial Services, LLC (“Trinity”) 

is a Florida Limited Liability Company with a principal place of business in Orange County, 

Florida. 

9. Kozeny is regularly engaged, for profit, in the collection of debts allegedly owed 

by consumers.   

10. Trinity is regularly engaged, for profit, in the collection of debts allegedly owed 

by consumers.   

11. Kozeny is a “debt collector” as defined by 15 U.S.C. § 1692a(6).  

12. Trinity is a “debt collector” as defined by 15 U.S.C. § 1692a(6).  

ALLEGATIONS 

13. Defendants allege Plaintiff owes a debt on a mortgage (“the Debt”).   

14. The Debt was primarily for personal, family or household purposes and is 

therefore a “debt” as defined by 15 U.S.C. § 1692a(5). 

15. Sometime after the incurrence of the Debt, Plaintiff fell behind on payments 

owed.  

16. Thereafter, at an exact time known only to Defendants, the Debt was assigned or 

otherwise transferred to Defendants for collection.  

17. Thereafter, at an exact time known only to Defendants, Trinity became the 

servicer of the Debt. 

18. Thereafter, at an exact time known only to Defendants, Kozeny was retained to 

collect the Debt. 
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19. In its efforts to collect the Debt, Trinity contacted Plaintiff by letter (“the Trinity 

Letter”) dated November 22, 2016. (“Exhibit 1.”)  

20. In its efforts to collect the Debt, Kozeny contacted Plaintiff by letter (“the Kozeny 

Letter”) dated November 22, 2016. (“Exhibit 2.”)  

21. The Kozeny Letter was the initial communication Plaintiff received from Kozeny. 

22. The Trinity Letter was the initial communication Plaintiff received from Trinity. 

23.  

24. The Letters are “communications” as defined by 15 U.S.C. § 1692a(2). 

FIRST COUNT  
Violation of 15 U.S.C. § 1692g(a)(3) 

AS TO TRINITY 
 

25. Plaintiff repeats and realleges the foregoing paragraphs as if fully restated herein. 

26. 15 U.S.C. § 1692g(a)(3) requires that within five days after the initial 

communication with a consumer in connection with the collection of any debt a debt collector 

shall, unless the following information is contained in the initial communication or the consumer 

has paid the debt, send the consumer a written notice containing a statement that unless the 

consumer, within thirty days after receipt of the notice, disputes the validity of the debt, or any 

portion thereof, the debt will be assumed to be valid by the debt collector.” 

27. The Trinity Letter fails to contain the required 15 U.S.C. § 1692g(a)(3) disclosure.  

28. Trinity violated 15 U.S.C. § 1692g(a)(3) by its failure to provide the information 

required by that Section. 

 

SECOND COUNT 
Violation of 15 U.S.C. § 1692g(a)(4) 

AS TO TRINITY 
 

29. Plaintiff repeats and realleges the foregoing paragraphs as if fully restated herein. 

30. 15 U.S.C. § 1692g(a)(4) requires that within five days after the initial 

communication with a consumer in connection with the collection of any debt a debt collector 

shall, unless the following information is contained in the initial communication or the consumer 

has paid the debt, send the consumer a written notice containing a statement that if the consumer 

notifies the debt collector in writing within the thirty-day period that the debt, or any portion 
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thereof, is disputed, the debt collector will obtain verification of the debt or a copy of a judgment 

against the consumer and a copy of such verification or judgment will be mailed to the consumer 

by the debt collector. 

31. The Trinity Letter fails to contain the required 15 U.S.C. § 1692g(a)(4) disclosure.  

32. Trinity violated 15 U.S.C. § 1692g(a)(4) by its failure to provide the information 

required by that Section. 

 

THIRD COUNT 
Violation of 15 U.S.C. § 1692g(a)(5) 

AS TO TRINITY 
 

33. Plaintiff repeats and realleges the foregoing paragraphs as if fully restated herein. 

34. 15 U.S.C. § 1692g(a)(5) requires that within five days after the initial 

communication with a consumer in connection with the collection of any debt a debt collector 

shall, unless the following information is contained in the initial communication or the consumer 

has paid the debt, send the consumer a written notice containing a statement that, upon the 

consumer’s written request within the thirty-day period, the debt collector will provide the 

consumer with the name and address of the original creditor, if different from the current 

creditor. 

35. The Trinity Letter fails to contain the required 15 U.S.C. § 1692g(a)(5) disclosure. 

36. Trinity violated 15 U.S.C. § 1692g(a)(5) by its failure to provide the information 

required by that Section. 

 

FOURTH COUNT 
Violation of 15 U.S.C. § 1692g(a)(3) 

AS TO KOZENY 
 

37. Plaintiff repeats and realleges the foregoing paragraphs as if fully restated herein. 

38. 15 U.S.C. § 1692g(a)(3) requires that within five days after the initial 

communication with a consumer in connection with the collection of any debt a debt collector 

shall, unless the following information is contained in the initial communication or the consumer 

has paid the debt, send the consumer a written notice containing a statement that unless the 

consumer, within thirty days after receipt of the notice, disputes the validity of the debt, or any 

portion thereof, the debt will be assumed to be valid by the debt collector.” 
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39. The Kozeny Letter fails to contain the required 15 U.S.C. § 1692g(a)(3) 

disclosure.  

40. Kozeny violated 15 U.S.C. § 1692g(a)(3) by its failure to provide the information 

required by that Section. 

 

FIFTH COUNT 
Violation of 15 U.S.C. § 1692g(a)(4) 

AS TO KOZENY 
 

41. Plaintiff repeats and realleges the foregoing paragraphs as if fully restated herein. 

42. 15 U.S.C. § 1692g(a)(4) requires that within five days after the initial 

communication with a consumer in connection with the collection of any debt a debt collector 

shall, unless the following information is contained in the initial communication or the consumer 

has paid the debt, send the consumer a written notice containing a statement that if the consumer 

notifies the debt collector in writing within the thirty-day period that the debt, or any portion 

thereof, is disputed, the debt collector will obtain verification of the debt or a copy of a judgment 

against the consumer and a copy of such verification or judgment will be mailed to the consumer 

by the debt collector. 

43. The Kozeny Letter fails to contain the required 15 U.S.C. § 1692g(a)(4) 

disclosure.  

44. Kozeny violated 15 U.S.C. § 1692g(a)(4) by its failure to provide the information 

required by that Section. 

 

SIXTH COUNT 
Violation of 15 U.S.C. § 1692g(a)(5) 

AS TO KOZENY 
 

45. Plaintiff repeats and realleges the foregoing paragraphs as if fully restated herein. 

46. 15 U.S.C. § 1692g(a)(5) requires that within five days after the initial 

communication with a consumer in connection with the collection of any debt a debt collector 

shall, unless the following information is contained in the initial communication or the consumer 

has paid the debt, send the consumer a written notice containing a statement that, upon the 

consumer’s written request within the thirty-day period, the debt collector will provide the 

consumer with the name and address of the original creditor, if different from the current 
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creditor. 

47. The Kozeny Letter fails to contain the required 15 U.S.C. § 1692g(a)(5) 

disclosure.  

48. Kozeny violated 15 U.S.C. § 1692g(a)(5) by its failure to provide the information 

required by that Section. 

 

 

SEVENTH COUNT 
Violation of 15 U.S.C. § 1692g 

Validation of Debts 
AS TO TRINITY 

49. Plaintiff repeats and realleges the foregoing paragraphs as if fully restated herein.   

50. 15 U.S.C. § 1692g provides that within five days after the initial communication 

with a consumer in connection with the collection of any debt, a debt collector shall, unless the 

information is contained in the initial communication or the consumer has paid the debt, send the 

consumer a written notice containing certain enumerated information. 

51. One such requirement is that the debt collector provide “the name of the creditor 

to whom the debt is owed.” 15 U.S.C. § 1692g(a)(2). 

52. The Trinity Letter fails to set forth the name of the creditor to whom the debt is 

owed. 

53. Trinity violated § 1692g as it failed to clearly and explicitly convey the name of 

the creditor to whom the debt is owed.  

EIGHTH COUNT 
Violation of 15 U.S.C. § 1692g 

Validation of Debts 
AS TO KOZENY 

54. Plaintiff repeats and realleges the foregoing paragraphs as if fully restated herein.   

55. 15 U.S.C. § 1692g provides that within five days after the initial communication 

with a consumer in connection with the collection of any debt, a debt collector shall, unless the 

information is contained in the initial communication or the consumer has paid the debt, send the 

consumer a written notice containing certain enumerated information. 

56. One such requirement is that the debt collector provide “the name of the creditor 

Case 5:17-cv-01046-GLS-DEP   Document 1   Filed 09/21/17   Page 6 of 8



 

7 

B
A

R
SH

A
Y

 |
 S

A
N

D
E

R
S 

PL
L

C
 

10
0 

G
A

R
D

E
N

 C
IT

Y
 P

L
A

Z
A

, S
U

IT
E

 5
00

 
G

A
R

D
E

N
 C

IT
Y

, N
E

W
 Y

O
R

K
 1

15
30

 

to whom the debt is owed.” 15 U.S.C. § 1692g(a)(2). 

57. The Kozeny Letter fails to set forth the name of the creditor to whom the debt is 

owed. 

58. Kozeny violated § 1692g as it failed to clearly and explicitly convey the name of 

the creditor to whom the debt is owed.  

 

CLASS ALLEGATIONS 

59. Plaintiff brings this action individually and as a class action on behalf of all 

persons similarly situated in the State of New York from whom Defendants attempted to collect a 

consumer debt using substantially the same collection letters used here, from one year before the 

date of this Complaint to the present.  

60. This action seeks a finding that Defendants’ conduct violates the FDCPA, and 

asks that the Court award damages as authorized by 15 U.S.C. § 1692k. 

61. Defendants regularly engage in debt collection. 

62. The Class consists of more than 35 persons from whom Defendants attempted to 

collect delinquent consumer debts using substantially the same collection letters used here. 

63. Plaintiff’s claims are typical of the claims of the Class.  Common questions of law 

or fact raised by this class action complaint affect all members of the Class and predominate over 

any individual issues. Common relief is therefore sought on behalf of all members of the Class. 

This class action is superior to other available methods for the fair and efficient adjudication of 

this controversy. 

64. The prosecution of separate actions by individual members of the Class would 

create a risk of inconsistent or varying adjudications with respect to the individual members of 

the Class, and a risk that any adjudications with respect to individual members of the Class 

would, as a practical matter, either be dispositive of the interests of other members of the Class 

not party to the adjudication, or substantially impair or impede their ability to protect their 

interests. Defendants have acted in a manner applicable to the Class as a whole such that 

declaratory relief is warranted. 

65. Plaintiff will fairly and adequately protect and represent the interests of the Class. 

The management of the class action proposed is not extraordinarily difficult, and the factual and 
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legal issues raised by this class action complaint will not require extended contact with the 

members of the Class, because Defendants’ conduct was perpetrated on all members of the Class 

and will be established by common proof.  Moreover, Plaintiff has retained counsel experienced 

in actions brought under consumer protection laws. 

 

JURY DEMAND 
 

66. Plaintiff hereby demands a trial of this action by jury. 

PRAYER FOR RELIEF 

WHEREFORE, Plaintiff respectfully requests judgment as follows: 
 

a. Certify this action as a class action; and 
 
b. Appoint Plaintiff as Class Representative of the Class, and 
Plaintiff’s attorneys as Class Counsel; and 

 
c. Find that Defendants’ actions violate the FDCPA; and 

 
d. Grant damages against Defendants pursuant to 15 U.S.C. § 1692k; 
and 

 
e. Grant Plaintiff’s attorneys’ fees pursuant to 15 U.S.C. § 1692k; 
and 

 
f. Grant Plaintiff’s costs; together with 

 
g. Such other relief that the Court determines is just and proper. 

 
 
DATED: August 8, 2017 

BARSHAY SANDERS, PLLC 
 
By: _/s/ Craig B. Sanders ____________ 
Craig B. Sanders, Esq. 
100 Garden City Plaza, Suite 500 
Garden City, New York 11530  
Tel: (516) 203-7600 
Fax: (516) 706-5055 
csanders@barshaysanders.com 
Attorneys for Plaintiff 
Our File No.: 113808 
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IIKOZen35'..MCCUbbill .nritrc., Spite .200& Katz,UP. I 1viii,.NY 1.1747
454-8059.plione

dillAteirseeire Letri 6Bi-45443169 fax,

ilt22120 116
KAREN MUIDOWNEY
MARTINMULDO Y
1510 US.ROUTE
TRULLY4 NY 13159

NOTICE OF.DEFAULT AND INTENT TO

RE: Deed ofTrust/Mortgage Dated: 10/19/2005 I1 Loan 1183
limpetty: IPUS R.0 E1i

TRULLY, 13159Dcar Mottgagor(s):

Please bel advfied the law Offices of Kozeny, MoCubbin & ;.t.tz LLP represents TRINITYFINANCIAL SERVICES, servieer tn. the owner and holder of' your 2, 41gage loan, oiid in apcordanee'with the referenced Deed of Dun/Mortgage and applicable state laws, fryvides you with formal notice of
the following!

The mortgage loan associated with the referenced Deed of Tnistiivion re IS in ddatlit for failure to pay
aihouuts dOe.

To owed* defaul‘ you must pay all amounts due under the terms of IrfiZte and Deed of
TruatiMoitZage. As of 12/31/2016, the tau.] amount necessary to loan current is $22,604_00
Additionth amounts may become due and payable under your Note 1 Deed of Truo/Mortgage after
12/31,

2".14For the eaaat =cunt you must pay to bring your loan c smut, Mew ovum TRINITY
FIN SERVICES at 8Z-8I84806,

TRwrry 'FINANCIAL SERVICES. IS A DEBT COL 1111 IS AN ATTEMPT To
COI-LECII YOUR DEBT -AND ANY INFORMATION OBT WILL BE USED FOR. THAT
PURPOSE

IP YOU ARE NOT OBLIGATED ON THE DEBT OR IF TIES DEBT HAS BEEN
DISCHARM IN A BANKRUPTCY PROCEEDING, TBIS IS PO ItF0ZITI0NAL .PURPOSES
01.4X •AND IS NOT AN ATIEMPT TO ASSESS OR CO T THE DEBT PROM YOU
PERSONAPN,
If you hEn'M not cured the &fait Within thirty PO cloys of oticc, UNITY FINANCIAL
SERVICES, will accelerate the maturity date of the Note and declare outstanding amounts under the
Note innneiliately due and paythle. Your property that is collateral f41 be Note may then be scheduled
for foreclolure M accordance with the terms ofthetteed ofTrusattoit snd applienh1e mtatf laws

This firm ho a debt collectur and eny information we ebtatu &oat 11 •be two tor that-purpose.

Ad GLI9 LI-00/9Z/L :WO 9412 :abed SS 1-S0099
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Pagel
11/22/2016

You }Live the right to reinstate yout loan after itocelenniun tind the xightto bring a court action to claimthat your Ioan i not in default or auyother &tease to accoletationap4 aale thatyou may have. ThisnOtie rocercho *effect untilthe default is cured.

Upon =4k:cation ofyour Note, TRINITY MANUAL SERVICES•. 1refer tho property forforedlos*e..In &midair& with tho teams ofyOut Note and Deed ofT aitgage and applicable statelaws, ifiltINITY FINANCIAL SERVIcES prevails in it* forecio Y°14 Mayingig.costs of.foreclosurp, such u title domnentation, lling fees ibr the conaplan4. reaoonahle attorney fees.
For your &niefit ara tliglistonco, there ate government-vpmed hora-.= =ship counseling agenciesdesigned to help homeowners avoid lOsing their homes. .T*5 obtain a 1 .t ofapproved counseling agencies,please cal OM 569-4287.

This matt* is vitly important: 'Please give it your inkraoido attenti6n,.

Should yo* have any question; please contacfl"ffrY. PUtNCIAIf 11.VICES ot 8$5-8n-6806

SineArely,

Ashley P#.45, ESQ.

This firm In a deht collector asd airy information we obtain fron4 •ill be uded for that purpose_

Ad GLI9 L I-OZ/9Z/L :eleCI 9 [4V :abed SS 1-S009S L.0
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TR IN ITYn
Noveinber 22, 2016

KAREN E MULDOWNEY
MARTIN MULDOWNEY
1510 US ROUTE 11
TRULLY, NY 13159

Loan %Iumber: M1.183
Propetdy: 1510 US ROUTE 1 i

TRULLY„ NY 1315

Dear Sortgagor(s),

As ofNovember 22, 2016, your home loan is 2153 la ays in default Under
New iiork State law, we are required to send you thi. notice to inform you
that yOu are at risk of losing your home. You can c

1- this default by making
the pifrment of$22,604.00 by December 31, 2016,*i
If yoiare experiencing financial difficulty, you s staid know that there are

several options available to you that may help you your home. Attached
to thii notice is a list ofgovernment approved housi,ig counseling agencies in

your area that provide free or very low-cost counse g. You should consider

contaiffting one of these agencies immediately. Th.;!, e agencies specialize in

helping homeowners who arc fking financial diffi

TRINITY FINANCIAL SERVICES IS A DEBT OLLECTOR. THIS IS
AN ATTEMPT TO COLLECT YOUR DEBT ANY INFORMATION

--a

OBTAINED WILL BE USED POR THAT PURPO1E.

IF YOU ARE NOT OBLIGATED ON THE DEB1 OR IF THE DEBT HAS

BEES DISCHAR.GED IN A BANKRUPTCY PRO REDING, THIS IS FOR
INFORMATIONAL PURPOSES ONLY AND IS 4OT AN A1TEMPT TO
ASSESS OR COLLECT THE DEBT FROM YOU ERSONALLY.

Phone; 1565ASUL6806 Fim 866.081-4499 I 201$ sun Miguel or,, Su 303 Newport .beeeth CA. 92660

wWW.TripityFS•toni

lAld 9Z 1. L. 9 LI.OZI9ZIL WO 9 L/I. e5ed 991.900991.9 1-1-10-1
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Ale;-; 't E.' k 5 1'51.. 1

AO' I r(1NH T
i,.,,,.. I i,.,

HNANC Ai -7i:;i7y-,dictc v--
i.

Housmg counselors can help you assess your finan4iat condition and work
with ps to explore the poil,ilit of modifying yo-F loall, ctb-iishing an

eagiet payment plan, for you, or even working !lout a period of loan
forbearance. Ifyou wi4i, you may a1so contact us dill,„1.1y at (855) 818-6806
and ask to discuss possibleoptions,,

Whilc we cannot assure that a mutually agreeable r+olution is possible, we

encourage you to take immediate steps to try to acr-ii eve a resolution. The

longer you wait the fewer options you way have. 1

If this matter is not resolved within 90 days from e date this notice was

mailed, we may commence legal action against youl (or sooner if you cease

to lie in the dwelling as your primary residen If you need fiirther

inforMation, please call the New York State •artment of Financial
Services toll-free helpline at (800) 269-0990 or visit the department's
website at www.dfs4way.

Sinc‘ely,
Trinitt7Financial Services
2618 San Miguel Dr., Suite 301
Newort Beach, CA 92660

(855), 818-6806

Enclosure: Agency list

lTRINITY FINANCIAL SERVICES is not affiliatewith, nor endorses, the

attacIrd list of approved counseling agencies. Ad "tional New York State

Bankrg Department approved counseling agen ies may be found at

*Additional amounts may become due under your to and Deed of

TrustMortgage after the date of this notice. For tlr- mot amount you must

pay to bring your loan current, please contact our o ce at (855).8Iiagg1

mis rum IS A DEBT COLLECTOR AND,1 V INFORMATION
Wi OBTAIN FROM YOU WILL BE USED R THAT PURPOSE.

Phone: 55‘.11111.15806 I Fax 165.881.4499 MS Sen Miguel Dr.f su 303 Newport Beach, CA.02060

www.TrinityPS.com
lAld 9Z: 1.1;9 LI-OZI9ZIL :WO 9 LIZ I. :e5e,d 991-900991.e :woad
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